RECEIVED

Jun 23 2025

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Berkeley County

Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JAMES E RILES,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2024-000650

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS
Senior Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial judge err in refusing to dismiss the indictment when the State failed to call the case for trial within 180 days of receiving written notice and request for final disposition pursuant to Article III of the Interstate Agreement on Detainers Act?
2. Did the trial judge err in refusing to dismiss the indictment when the State failed to call the case for trial within 120 days of Appellant arriving in the State pursuant to Article IV of the Interstate Agreement on Detainers?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 6, 2023, the Berkeley County Grand Jury indicted Appellant, James Riles, for burglary first degree, indictment #2023-GS-08-03661. On March 8, 2024, a hearing was held before the Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson. Taylor Jane Estes represented Appellant. Kawohikukapulani S. Morris represented the State. A subsequent hearing was held on March 13, 2024, before the Honorable Roger M. Young. Appellant was again represented by Taylor Jane Estes. The State was again represented by Kawohikukapulani S. Morris. On April 8, 2024, Appellant proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson. Appellant was again represented by Taylor Jane Estes and the State was again represented by Kawohikukapulani S. Morris. The jury returned a verdict of guilty and Judge Jefferson sentenced Appellant to fifteen (15) years in prison. A timely notice of intent to appeal was filed on April 17, 2024. This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

- 1. The trial judge erred in refusing to dismiss the indictment when the State failed to call the case for trial within 180 days of receiving written notice and request for final disposition pursuant to Article III of the Interstate Agreement on Detainers Act.**

On October 28, 2021, law enforcement in Berkeley County, South Carolina obtained an arrest warrant for Appellant charging him with the theft of two chainsaws from an open garage. Appellant was charged with burglary first degree based on two prior burglary convictions. (R. p. 319-320). On April 7, 2022, Appellant began serving a sentence in the Georgia Department of Corrections. The South Carolina arrest warrant had not been served at the time of Appellant's incarceration in Georgia. While incarcerated at the Riverbend Correctional Facility in Milledgeville, Georgia, Appellant sent a letter, dated April 12, 2023, and post marked April 14, 2023, to the Berkeley County Solicitor's Office asking to resolve the pending burglary charge. (R. p. 321-323). On April 24, 2023, a hold was placed on Appellant by the Berkeley County Sheriff's Office.

On May 10, 2023, Assistant Solicitor Kawohi Morris requested from Angela Reaves-Pham, Warden of the Riverbend Correctional Facility where Appellant was incarcerated, temporary custody of Appellant pursuant to Article IV of the Interstate Agreement on Detainers Act [IAD] found in S.C. Code §17-11-10. (R. p. 324-325). In the cover letter to the form V request the Assistant Solicitor notes that she has 180 days to resolve the Berkeley County charge. (R. p. 324). According to the State's response to defendant's motion to dismiss, Assistant Solicitor Morris mailed and emailed the packet, including a form V of the IAD and certified copies of the arrest warrant. (R. p. 347). That same day, May 10, 2023, Appellant signed a form II of the IAD. (R. p. 333-334). Form II is the "Inmate's Notice of Place of Imprisonment and Requestor for Disposition of Indictments, Information or Complaints." The form II, however, was not dated by

the unit manager until October 31, 2023. Form III and IV of the IAD were not signed by Warden Angela Reaves-Pham until November 1, 2023. (R. p. 335-338). Form III is the certificate of inmate status. Form IV is the offer to deliver temporary custody

On August 19, 2023, Appellant wrote to Harlow Love of the Georgia IAD Administration asking about the status of the request for disposition of the South Carolina pending charge. (R. p. 75, line 24 – p. 76, lines 1-3). On November 3, 2023, Assistant Solicitor Morris again contacted Warden Reaves-Pham about the request for temporary custody previously sent on May 10, 2023. (R. p. 339-340). In the letter to the warden Assistant Solicitor Morris notes that earlier that week Appellant contacted the Public Defender Office and asked them to request dismissal of the charges pursuant to the IAD. In the letter the assistant solicitor claims that the 180 days does not start until she receives the signed paperwork. (R. p. 340).

On November 14, 2023, the Assistant Solicitor received signed forms II, III, and IV of the IAD. (R. p. 348). Again, Form II is the “Inmate’s Notice of Place of Imprisonment and Requestor for Disposition of Indictments, Information or Complaints.” The form was signed by Appellant on May 10, 2023, but not signed by the unit manager at the prison until October 31, 2023. Form III, the certificate of inmate status, was not signed by Warden Angela Reaves-Pham until November 1, 2023, and was blank with no status provided. (R. p. 335-336). Form IV, the offer to deliver temporary custody, was not signed by the Warden until November 1, 2023. (R. p. 337-338).

On November 29, 2023, Appellant was transferred from the prison in Georgia to Berkeley County South Carolina. On December 6, 2023, the Berkeley County Grand Jury indicted Appellant for burglary first degree, indictment #2023-GS-08-03661. (R. p. 315-316). On February 7, 2024, Appellant’s counsel filed a motion to dismiss. (R. p. 341-345). The State filed

a response on February 8, 2024. (R. p. 346-397). On March 13, 2024, a hearing was held before the Honorable Roger M. Young on the State's motion for a continuance and the Defense motion to dismiss. In a written order signed March 13, 2024, Judge Young denied the motion to dismiss writing, "Based on the Defendant's Motion to Dismiss, the State's Response to the Defendant's Motion to Dismiss, and oral arguments, the Court finds that the Interstate Agreement on Detainers Act was not triggered until November 14, 2023 when the Defendant's written notice for disposition of charges was properly accompanied by the certificate in S.C. Code §17-11-10, Article III, subsection (b)." (R. p. 398). The judge then wrote, "The State has one hundred eighty (180) days from November 14, 2023, in which to bring the Defendant to trial according to §17-11-10, Article III, subsection (a)." (R. p. 398). It appears that as a result of the ruling on the motion to dismiss, the Judge did not rule on the State's motion for a continuance. The motion to dismiss was renewed when the case was called to trial in April of 2024. (R, p. 169).

The judge erred in finding that the IAD was not triggered until November 14, 2023. Appellant requested disposition of his charge on April 12, 2023. Based on that request, the Solicitor's Office knew that Appellant was incarcerated in the Riverbend Correctional Facility in Milledgeville, Georgia. Appellant signed the form II, request for disposition, on May 10, 2023, triggering the 180 days provided by Article III of the IAD. It was through no fault of Appellant that the form II was not signed by the unit manager of the prison until October 31, 2023. It was through no fault of Appellant that form III, the blank certificate of inmate status, and form IV, the offer to deliver temporary custody, were not signed by the Warden until November 1, 2023. The judge erred in refusing to dismiss the indictment when the State failed to call the case for trial within 180 days of receiving written notice and request for final disposition pursuant to Article III of the Interstate Agreement on Detainers Act

Article III, subsections (a) and (b) of the IAD found in S.C. Code Ann. § 17-11-10, apply when a prisoner initiates disposition of charges pending while the prisoner is incarcerated in another jurisdiction. Article III, subsections (a) and (b) of S.C. Code Ann. § 17-11-10, provide,

(a) Whenever a person has entered upon a term of imprisonment in a penal or correctional institution of a party state, and whenever during the continuance of the term of imprisonment there is pending in any other party state any untried indictment, information or complaint on the basis of which a detainer has been lodged against the prisoner, he shall be brought to trial within one hundred eighty days after he shall have caused to be delivered to the prosecuting officer and the appropriate court of the prosecuting officer's jurisdiction written notice of the place of his imprisonment and his request for a final disposition to be made of the indictment, information or complaint; *provided*, that for good cause shown in open court, the prisoner or his counsel being present, the court having jurisdiction of the matter may grant any necessary or reasonable continuance. The request of the prisoner shall be accompanied by a certificate of the appropriate official having custody of the prisoner, stating the term of commitment under which the prisoner is being held, the time already served, the time remaining to be served on the sentence, the amount of good time earned, the time of parole eligibility of the prisoner, and any decisions of the state parole agency relating to the prisoner.

(b) The written notice and request for final disposition referred to in paragraph (a) hereof shall be given or sent by the prisoner to the warden, commissioner of corrections or other official having custody of him, who shall promptly forward it together with the certificate to the appropriate prosecuting official and court by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested.

In footnote 7 in State v. Hill, 409 S.C. 50, 53, 760 S.E.2d 802, 804 (2014), the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote:

Under the IAD, once the receiving jurisdiction acknowledges receipt of the prisoner's request for disposition, the receiving jurisdiction has 180 days to bring the prisoner to trial, unless a proper continuance is granted by a court of competent jurisdiction. S.C.Code Ann. § 17-11-10 Art. III (2003). Otherwise, the court will dismiss the charges. See State v. Holbrook, 274 S.C. 4, 260 S.E.2d 181 (1979). (holding that the time provisions of the IAD are mandatory and violation of them requires dismissal).

Appellant caused to be delivered to the prosecuting officer written notice of the place of his imprisonment and his request for a final disposition of the charge when he wrote to the Berkeley County Solicitor's Office in April of 2023. (R. p. 321-322). The receiving jurisdiction, Berkeley County, acknowledged receipt of Appellant's request for disposition when, on May 10, 2023, the prosecutor contacted the warden of the Georgia prison where Appellant was incarcerated. (R. p. 234-325). As noted above, in the letter the prosecutor notes that she has 180 days to resolve the Berkeley County charge. (R. p. 324). The State had 180 days from May 10, 2023, to bring Appellant to trial on the Berkeley County burglary charge. The State failed to bring the case to trial within the 180 days provided by the IAD. The remedy is dismissal.

In State v. Allen, 269 S.C. 233, 238–39, 237 S.E.2d 64, 67 (1977), the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote, “The purpose of the Interstate Agreement on Detainers is, as stated in Article I of Section 17-11-10, supra, to encourage and effectuate ‘the expeditious and orderly disposition’ of charges outstanding against prisoners detained in other jurisdictions so as to eliminate ‘uncertainties which obstruct programs of prisoner treatment and rehabilitation.’ This purpose is promoted by requiring the receiving State to expeditiously proceed to a trial of the case.

Under the facts of this case, the judge's finding that the IAD was not triggered until November 14, 2023, when the Defendant's written notice for disposition of charges was properly accompanied by the certificate in S.C. Code §17-11-10, Article III, subsection (b) places form over substance and is contrary to the stated purpose of the IAD. This is especially true given the fact that the delay between May 10, 2023, when Appellant signed the form II, and October 31 - November 1, 2023, when the warden finally signed forms III, and IV and the forms were sent to Berkeley County was no fault of Appellant. In Pittman v. State, 301 A.2d 509 (Del. 1973), the

Supreme Court of Delaware held that dismissal under the IAD was required finding that errors by Maryland prison officials should not be held against Pittman. The Delaware Supreme Court wrote:

The Legislature enacted no specific requirement that a prisoner, for whose benefit the IAD was enacted, be apprised of the technical aspects of the law. Indeed, the Legislature has placed one, and only one burden on the prisoner, that is, to ask the prison official who has custody over him to prepare and send the forms to the jurisdiction from which a detainer is lodged against him. The prisoner is not required to determine whether the foreign state is under the Act; nor is he required to police the correction official to establish that the official performs his statutory duties; nor is he bound to make sure that the form of his request complies with the technical and procedural requirements of the IAD.

On the other hand, the Uniform Act has put an absolute burden of the prison official to prepare and send these forms and, impliedly, to have knowledge or to determine whether the state which has lodged the detainer is under the IAD. The prisoner has no supervisory powers and the prison official has no discretion under the Act. *State v. Lippolis*, 101 N.J.Super. 435, 244 A.2d 531, 536 (1968); rev'd on other grounds 55 N.J. 354, 262 A.2d 203 (1970); *People v. Masselli*, 17 A.D.2d 367, 234 N.Y.S.2d 929, 933 (1962); *People v. Esposito*, 201 N.Y.S.2d 83, 90 (Co.Ct.1960).

Pittman, 301 A.2d at 512-513. The Delaware Supreme Court in Pittman also wrote:

The State asks us to hold Pittman to strict compliance with the statute, but at the same time asks us to excuse the mistakes of the Maryland official and the neglect of the Attorney General's office. The State had sufficient notice to require it to take appropriate action upon Pittman's request. The burden of compliance with the procedural requirements of the IAD rests upon the party states and their agents; the prisoner, who is to benefit by this statute, is not to be held accountable for official administrative errors which deprive him of that benefit.

Pittman, 301 A.2d at 514. In the present case, like in Pittman, the State had sufficient notice that Appellant was seeking disposition of the pending burglary charge. Appellant should not be accountable for the errors of the Georgia prison officials in failing to send the paperwork in a timely manner. The State writes in the response to the motion to dismiss that, "The defendant may have an argument against the State of Georgia but that should not affect the State of South Carolina

and it right to prosecute defendant.” (R. p. 350-351). The State, however, waited from May 10, 2023, until November 3, 2023, to follow up with the Georgia prison officials. Appellant should not held accountable for the delay caused by both the Georgia prison officials and the Berkeley County Solicitor’s Office.

In Rockmore v. State, 21 Ariz. App. 388, 519 P.2d 877 (1974), the Arizona Court of Appeals held that dismissal under the IAD was required although officials did not strictly comply with the requirements of the Act. In Rockmore the Arizona Court of Appeals wrote:

The State's next argument is that appellant did not comply with the requirements of A.R.S. s 31-481. This argument is twofold. First, the State asserts that appellant's petition was incomplete because it was not accompanied by a certificate as required by Art. III(a); second, that he did not have the sending state, California, offer to deliver temporary custody as required by Art. V(a).

We find no merit in either argument. The purpose of the Agreement on Detainers is to encourage expeditious and orderly disposition of outstanding charges against a prisoner and a determination of the proper status of all detainers based on untried indictments, informations or complaints. A.R.S. s 31-481, Art. I. To effectuate this purpose, the agreement is to be liberally construed. A.R.S. s 31-481, Art. IX. As to the certificate, Art. III(a) sets forth what it shall include and places the burden of preparing it upon the appropriate official having custody of the prisoner. That official also has the responsibility of forwarding the request for final disposition and the certificate to the appropriate prosecuting official and court. A.R.S. s 31-481, Art. III(b). All that is required of the prisoner is that he give or send written notice and a request for final disposition to the official having custody of him, which appellant did. Relief should not be denied appellant when officials of the sending state fail to send the appropriate certificate. To hold otherwise would defeat the purpose of the agreement.

Rockmore, 21 Ariz. App. 388, 390, 519 P.2d 877, 879 (1974). Like the Appellant in Rockmore, Appellant in the present case did what was required of him under the IAD when he signed the form II on May 10, 2023. As in Rockmore, the fact that the form II was not mailed until October 31, 2023, and the certificate and offer to deliver temporary custody, forms III and IV, were not signed and mailed until November 1, 2023, should not be used to deny relief in the present case. To hold

otherwise would defeat the purpose of the agreement. Additionally, when the certificate of inmate status, form III, was finally sent from the Georgia prison, the form did not list any information about Appellant's status. (R. p. 335). As the certificate was blank, the status information was not necessary in order for the State to act.

The case is distinguished from State v. Johnson, 278 S.C. 668, 301 S.E.2d 138 (1983), where there was confusion over Johnson's place of imprisonment. In the present case there was no confusion about Appellant's place of imprisonment, as evidenced by the prosecutor's letter to the warden dated May 10, 2023. The judge erred in finding that the IAD was not triggered until November 14, 2023, when the Defendant's written notice for disposition of charges was properly accompanied by the certificate in S.C. Code §17-11-10, Article III, subsection (b). The judge erred in refusing to dismiss the indictment.

2. The judge erred in refusing to dismiss the indictment when the State failed to call the case for trial within 120 days of Appellant arriving in the State pursuant to Article IV of the Interstate Agreement on Detainers.

Article IV, of the IAD found in S.C. Code Ann. § 17-11-10, applies when a prosecutor initiates disposition of pending charges when a defendant is outside the jurisdiction. Without waiving the argument presented in issue one above, alternatively, if Appellant did not trigger the 180 day provision of Article III of the IAD on May 10, 2023, then the Assistant Solicitor triggered the 120 day provision of Article IV of the IAD when she requested temporary custody of Appellant pursuant to Article IV on May 10, 2023. The judge erred in refusing to dismiss the indictment

because the State failed to call the case for trial within 120 days of Appellant arriving in the State pursuant to Article IV of the IAD.

On May 10, 2023, Assistant Solicitor Kawohi Morris requested from Angela Reaves-Pham, Warden of the Riverbend Correctional Facility where Appellant was incarcerated, temporary custody of Appellant pursuant to Article IV of the Interstate Agreement on Detainers Act [IAD] found in S.C. Code §17-11-10. (R. p. 324-332). The form V request for temporary custody included with the letter specifically references Article IV of the IAD. (R. p. 329). Appellant was transferred from Georgia to Berkeley County South Carolina on November 29, 2023. The State had 120 days from November 29, 2023, to call the case for trial. The case was not called for trial until April 8, 2024.

Article IV, subsection (a) of the IAD found in S.C. Code Ann. § 17-11-10 provides:

(a) The appropriate officer of the jurisdiction in which an untried indictment, information or complaint is pending shall be entitled to have a prisoner against whom he has lodged a detainer and who is serving a term of imprisonment in any party state made available in accordance with Article V (a) hereof upon presentation of a written request for temporary custody or availability to the appropriate authorities of the state in which the prisoner is incarcerated; *provided*, that the court having jurisdiction of such indictment, information or complaint shall have duly approved, recorded and transmitted the request. *Provided, further*, that there shall be a period of thirty days after receipt by the appropriate authorities before the request be honored, within which period the governor of the sending state may disapprove the request for temporary custody or availability, either upon his own motion or upon motion of the prisoner.

Article IV, subsection (c) of the IAD found in S.C. Code Ann. § 17-11-10 provides:

(c) In respect of any proceedings made possible by this Article, trial shall be commenced within one hundred twenty days of the arrival of the prisoner in the receiving state, but for good cause shown in open court, the prisoner or his counsel being present, the court having jurisdiction of the matter may grant any necessary or reasonable continuance.

The State conceded it was proceeding pursuant to Article IV of the IAD. On March 13, 2024, the State moved for a continuance telling the judge, “The State would also note that though it is moving under South Carolina Code 17-11-10, Article IV, Subsection (c), which states that the trial shall commence within 120 days of the prisoner arriving in South Carolina, we are doing so just out of an abundance of caution.” (R. p. 69 lines 2-7). Rather than simply moving forward under Article IV and seeking a continuance, as provided in the statute, the State argued that Article III of the IAD actually applied to Appellant arguing, “The State believes it is actually South Carolina Code 17-11-10, Article III, Subsection (a) that applies to this Defendant, and that the State has 180 days from the Defendant properly delivering his request for disposition in which to bring the Defendant to trial. That date would be November 14, of 2023, which means 180 days goes to May 12th of 2024. And, therefore, the State would respectfully request a continuance.” (R. p. 69, lines 8-16). The judge failed to rule on the State’s continuance motion because, as argued in issue one above, the judge incorrectly found, as argued by the State, that the 180-day provision of Article III, of the IAD was not triggered until November 14, 2023, when the State received the certificate from the warden of the prison in Georgia.

The State also conceded it was proceeding pursuant to Article IV of the IAD in the State’s response to the defendant’s motion to dismiss where the Assistant Solicitor wrote that on November 14, 2023, while she was arranging a Cuyler hearing pursuant to Article IV of the IAD, she received signed forms II, III, and IV of the IAD. (R. p. 348).

During the trial in April Appellant renewed the motion to dismiss telling the trial judge, “Yes, Your Honor, just one quick matter for appellate purposes only. This case, we had filed a motion to dismiss on the IDA that Judge Young heard on, arguing that this case should be dismissed under the 180 and/or the 130 rule under the IDA. However, Judge Young denied that