RECEIVED

Jun 27 2025

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY
Court Of General Sessions
The Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-000650

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

JAMES ELTON RILES,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

ANDREW D. POWELL
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

SCARLETT A. WILSON
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit

101 Meeting St STE 400
Charleston, SC 29401
(843) 958-1900

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

- I. The trial court did not err in denying Appellant's motion to dismiss because the 180-day clock associated with the Interstate Agreement on Detainers did not start until the certificate was delivered.**

The trial court did not err in denying the Appellant's motion to dismiss because the IAD 180-day clock was not triggered until the necessary certificate was delivered to the Berkeley County Solicitor. Once the certificate was delivered, on November 14, 2023, the State was required to bring Riles to trial within 180 days. Riles' trial began on April 8, 2024, satisfying the State's obligation under the IAD.

The IAD is a compact, entered into by the federal government and the vast majority of states, including South Carolina. See S.C. Code Ann. §17-11-10 (2003). The central purpose of the IAD is to allow participating states to uniformly and expeditiously dispose of charges pending against prisoners held out of state. S.C. Code Ann. § 17-11-10 (2003); State v. Adams, 354 S.C. 361, 370, 580 S.E.2d 785, 790 (Ct. App. 2003). A detainer is a notice filed with an institution in which a particular prisoner is incarcerated, advising that he is wanted to face pending criminal charges in another jurisdiction, and requesting that the prisoner either be held for the other jurisdiction's prosecutors or that these prosecutors be notified when the prisoner's release is imminent. See Carchman v. Nash, 473 U.S. 716, 719 (1985).

Article III of the IAD gives a prisoner against whom a detainer has been lodged the right to request a final disposition of the relevant charges; and Article IV gives the jurisdiction in which charges remain the right to have the prisoner transported for trial. Id. at 149-50. Once invoked, each article provides a specific, but different, time frame within which trial must be had. Id. The code states:

Whenever a person has entered upon a term of imprisonment in a penal or correctional institution of a party state, and whenever during the continuance of the term of imprisonment there is pending in any other party state any untried indictment, information or complaint on the basis of which a detainer has been lodged against the prisoner, he shall be brought to trial within one hundred eighty days after he shall have caused to be delivered to the prosecuting officer and the appropriate court of the prosecuting officer's jurisdiction written notice of the place of his imprisonment and his request for a final disposition to be made of the indictment, information or complaint; provided, that for good cause shown in open court, the prisoner or his counsel being present, the court having jurisdiction of the matter may grant any necessary or reasonable continuance.

S.C. Code Ann. § 17-11-10 (2003).

The rights and protections created by the IAD are statutory rights, not fundamental or constitutional. Barnes, 431 S.C. 416; Camp v. U.S., 587 F.2d 397, 400 (8th Cir. 1978) (holding the IAD is a statutory set of rules and does not amount to constitutionally guaranteed rights); Diggs v. Owens, 833 F.2d 439, 442 (3rd Cir.1987) (holding the IAD is a set of procedural rules, the violation of which does not infringe a constitutional right).

Most jurisdictions have held that defendants must strictly comply with the IAD before courts dismiss charges based on the violation of the 180-day provision of Article III. Eckard v. Commonwealth, 460 S.E.2d 242, 246 (Va. Ct. App. 1995) (“Courts have generally required that prisoners must strictly comply with IAD procedures”); Tinghitella v. California, 718 F.2d 308, 312 (9th Cir.1983) (“formal requirements must be met before the timely trial provisions of the IAD come into play”); State v. Mangum, 291 P.3d 44, 50 (Idaho Ct. App. 2012) (the majority of jurisdictions . . . have concluded that prisoners attempting to invoke the provisions of the IAD must strictly comply with the provisions set forth by the statute”); State v. Somerlot, 544 S.E.2d 52 (WV. 2000) (noting a prisoner “must strictly comply with the procedures set forth in the Interstate Agreement on Detainers Act”).

In Johnson, our Supreme Court found that a prisoner failed to comply with IAD requirements and accordingly did not trigger the 180-day clock. State v. Johnson, 278 S.C. 668, 671, 301 S.E.2d 138, 140 (1983). In Johnson, the prisoner failed to properly state where he was incarcerated or send the required certificate that would have included the relevant information. Id. In reaching its conclusion the Johnson Court cited the Georgia Supreme Court's decision in Stynchombe, where the court found the absence of the pertinent certificate was "fatal" to the prisoner's claim under Article III. Reed v. Stynchombe, 290 S.E.2d 469 (Ga. 1982).

Importantly, the United States Supreme has held that the 180-day clock does not commence until a prisoner's disposition was delivered to the court and prosecutor. Fex v. Michigan, 507 U.S. 43 (1993). The Fex Court noted the IAD "provides for documentary evidence of the date on which the request is delivered to the officials of the receiving State but requires no record of the date on which it is transmitted to the warden." Id. Specifically, the Court held "the 180-day time period in Article III(a) of the IAD does not commence until the prisoner's request for final disposition of the charges against him has actually been delivered to the court and prosecuting officer of the jurisdiction that lodged the detainer against him." Id. The Court noted that a delay through a warden's negligence or even malice was bad given the intent of the IAD. Fex, 507 U.S. 49-51. However, the Court explained it is no worse than what regularly occurred prior to the IAD's enactment. Id. What the Court emphasized would be "significantly worse" is if prosecution was precluded due to a warden's negligence before the prosecutor knew of a request. Id.

Here, Riles failed to strictly comply with the requirements of the IAD to successfully trigger the IAD 180-day provision. The trial court properly found that the clock did not start until the Berkeley County Solicitor acquired the necessary certificate. Consequently, the State had

until May 12, 2024, to bring Riles to trial. It did so on April 8, 2024, which was a date fully before the deadline. As discussed above, courts have stressed strict compliance and actual delivery to trigger the timeframe. Additionally, Fex specifically weighs potential outcomes of delayed prosecution due to negligence of a warden, and in that analysis stressed the harm associated with a precluded prosecution. The purpose of the IAD is to provide for the uniform and expeditious disposal of charges, but here the State was not in possession of the necessary documents to initiate Riles' prosecution. Accordingly, the trial court er by denying Appellant's motion to dismiss. This Court should affirm.

II. The trial court did not err in denying Appellant's motion to dismiss because the prosecution was triggered under Article III rather than Article IV.

The court properly found that the IAD was not triggered until November 14, when the notice for disposition was accompanied by the certificate. The proceedings were initiated by Riles and correspondingly triggered Article III of the IAD rather than Article IV. Because Article III was triggered, the pertinent deadline for the State to bring Riles to trial was 180 days.

The IAD provides:

- (a) The appropriate officer of the jurisdiction in which an untried indictment, information or complaint is pending shall be entitled to have a prisoner against whom he has lodged a detainer and who is serving a term of imprisonment in any party state made available in accordance with Article V (a) hereof upon presentation of a written request for temporary custody or availability to the appropriate authorities of the state in which the prisoner is incarcerated; provided, that the court having jurisdiction of such indictment, information or complaint shall have duly approved, recorded and transmitted the request. Provided, further, that there shall be a period of thirty days after receipt by the appropriate authorities before the request be honored, within which period the governor of the sending state may disapprove the request for temporary custody or availability, either upon his own motion or upon motion of the prisoner.
- (b) Upon receipt of the officer's written request as provided in paragraph (a) hereof, the appropriate authorities having the prisoner in custody shall furnish the officer with a certificate stating the term of commitment under which the prisoner is being held, the time already served, the time remaining to be served on the sentence, the amount of good time earned, the time of parole eligibility of the prisoner, and any decisions of the state parole agency relating to the prisoner. The authorities simultaneously shall furnish all other officers and appropriate courts in the receiving state who have lodged detainers against the prisoner with similar certificates and with notices informing them of the request for custody or availability and of the reasons therefor.
- (c) In respect of any proceedings made possible by this Article, trial shall be commenced within one hundred twenty days of the arrival of the prisoner in the receiving state, but for good cause shown in open court, the prisoner or his counsel being present, the court having

jurisdiction of the matter may grant any necessary or reasonable continuance.

S.C. Code Ann. § 17-11-10.

The transfer of a prisoner under the IAD can be initiated “under Article III, whereby the prisoner requests a trial on outstanding charges in the receiving state, or under Article IV, whereby the receiving state requests temporary custody of the prisoner to bring him to trial.” State v. Almy, 162 P.3d 680, 681 (Ariz. Ct. App. 2007).

During the hearing the State asserted that it believed Article III applied to Riles, but nonetheless sought an extension out of an abundance of caution should Article IV be applicable, due to the different deadlines. (R. p. 68-69). The court found Article III was applicable and denied Riles’ motion to dismiss. Here, the court properly found Article III is the appropriate article, because the process was initiated by Riles, not the State. See Shewan v. State, 396 So.2d 1133 (Fla. 5th Ct. App 1980) (holding the 180–day limit applied where defendant made an Article III request for disposition before the State took custody); State v. Willoughby, 927 P.2d 1379 (Hi. Ct. App.1996) (holding article IV applied where state was first to file request); See also State v. York, 583 N.E.2d 1046, 1050 (Oh. Ct. App. 1990) (finding Appellant waived any rights under Article IV by making an Article III request). Additionally, under Article IV a Cuyler hearing is necessary to waive extradition, and such a hearing was not held.¹ However, under Article III a request for disposition is deemed a waiver of extradition. S.C. Code Ann. § 17-11-10.

¹ Cuyler v. Adams, 449 U.S. 433 (1981).

Here, Riles initiated the process under Article III with his letter requesting the resolution of pending charges. The IAD was not strictly complied with until the paperwork was delivered on November 14th, which triggered Article III. The Court properly denied Riles's motion to dismiss and found that the statute was not triggered until the November 14th delivery. This Court should affirm.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.